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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

MDL No. 2867
No. 18C 6785
IN RE: LOCAL TV ADVERTISING

ANTITRUST LITIGATION Judge Virginia M. Kendall

N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation consolidated before this Couitrizst
actions pending in multiple jurisdictiol®causehe cases involve common questions of fact and
centralization will promote the just and efficient conduct of thigdiion. (Dkt. 1). The actions
each allege a conspiracy to artificially inflate the prioe$ocal televisionspotadvertisements
throughout the United StateBefore the Court are three Motions to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Consolidated Second Amended Antitr@$ass Action Complaint for failure to state a cland a
Motion to Strike the Class AllegationsFor the reasons set forth below, tBeoadcaster
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 328) is denied, Gray TV's Motion to Dismiss (Dkt.i830)
granted, Katz’'s Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 346) is denied, and the Motion to Strike the Class
Allegations (Dkt. 328) is denied.

BACKGROUND

On a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court accepts the Complaint's well
pleaded factual allegations and draws all reasonable inferences in theowioig party’s favor.
SeeSmoke Shop, LLC v. United Stafé81 F.3d 779, 785 (7th Cir. 2014)hdlfacts below come

from Plaintiffs’ Consolidated Second Amended Antitrust Compla@omplaint”) (Dkt. 292) and
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the Court accepts them as true for purposes of reviewing this MdBea.Vinson v. Vermillion
Cty., lll., 776 F.3d 924, 925 (7th Cir. 2015).
l. The Parties

Plaintiff Thoughtworx, Inc. is an advertising company that purchases broadcasidelevi
spot advertisingime for advertiser clients. (Dkt. 292 § 18). Thoughtworx purchassgot
advertising from several Defendants during the Class@&r{ld.). Plaintiff One Source Heating
& Cooling is a company that purchased broadcast television spot advertising during the Clas
Period directly from Defendants Raycom Media and Sinclair Broadcast Grddp.f 19).
Defendants are broadcasters and advertising sales firms who sold telgos@advertising during
the Class Period.ld. 1 21+41).
Il. Framework of Defendant’s Alleged Antitrust Scheme

Plaintiffs allege thatluring the Class Perip@efendant$ secretly orchestrated a unitary
scheme to supreompetitivelyraise the price®f broadcast television spot advertisements by
agreeing to fix prices and exchange sales data, including pacing dBiet. 2929 2). The
existence of the data exchange and the data iteefflk@ptsecrefrom the purchasers of broadcast

television spot advertisingId{ T 3). The information Defendants exchanged included both local

1 The “Class Period” begins in the first quarter of 2014 and continues until “éretsefff the unlawful conduct are
adjudged to have ceased.” (Dkt. 2p220).

2The Court uses the term “Defendants” to refer collective@B& Corporatiorf‘CBS”), Cox Ererprises, Inc(“Cox
Enterprises”) Cox Media Group, LLE‘Cox Media”), Dreamcatcher Broadcasting, L{©reamcatcher”) The E.W.
Scripps Compan§'E.W. Scripps”) Griffin Communications, LLE"Griffin”) , Fox Corporatior{“Fox”), Katz Media
Group, Inc.(*Katz"), Meredith Corporatiorf*Meredith”), Nexstar Media Group, In€:Nexstar”), Gray Television,
Inc. (“"Gray TV")—through its acquisition of Raycom Media, I{tRaycom”—, Sinclair Broadcast Group, Inc.
(“Sinclair”), TEGNA, Inc.(“TEGNA"), Tribune Broadcasting Company, LI(ribune Broadcasting”), and Tribune
Media Company“Tribune Media”).

3According to theComplaint, pacing data “is used to compare a broadcast station’s revenues boakeitfgin time
period (either a current or future period) to the revenues booked for the samia gioietin the previous year. lItis
accompanied by a percentage figre., that a station’s revenue indicates that it is pacing plus or minus 10%, 20%,
30%, or so on). Pacing indicates how each station is performing compared to thethestnafket and provides
insight into each station’s remaining broadcast telewisfmt advertising inventory for a current or future period. The
exchange of pacing information reveals the Broadcaster Defendants’ remainphg st supply being a, if not
the, key factor informing negotiations over price.” (Dkt. 29%4).



and national broadcast television spaolvertisingdataand was sharedvith the Broadcaster
Defendants® knowledge and at their direction, witmdividuals within the Broadcaster
Defendants’ organizations with authority over pricingd. I 4). The scheme derailed the
competitive process and allowed the Broadcaster Defendants to avoid prigetitom harming
direct purchasers of broadcast television spot advertising in Designated Meg&st(“DMAS")
throughout the United Statégcause it enabletie Broadcaster Defendants to better understand
the avaiability of their wouldbe competitors’ inventory through the exchange of pacing data.
(1d.).

Cox Media and Katzhe “Sales Rep Firmsfunction “as extensions of a station’s sales
staff and are familiar with various rate cards (prices) and prograearoes demographics.”
(Id. 1 41). The Sales Rep Firms are industry participants that regularly communithteagh
Broadcaster Defendant to serve the Broadcaster Defendants’ demdrndg.he Sales Rep Firms
facilitated the “exchangdof] reakttime pacing information” between Defendants(ld.).
Defendants’ allegegricefixing cartel was facilitated in large part through a reciprocal exchange
of competitively sensitive information, which include.) pacing information(2) average price
data througta third-party calledKantar, available at a granular level broken down by DMA and
inventory type €.g, early news, late news, prime timand(3) other forms of competitively
sensitive sales informatior(ld. { 50).

Plaintiffs allege thatas revealed in the DOJ’s investigasprelated court filings, and the

investigation of counseefendantsexchange of competitively sensitive information took at least

4The Caurt uses the term “BroadcasDefendants” to refer collectively to CBS, Cox Enterprises, Dreamcatcher, Fox,
Griffin, Meredith, Nexstar, Raycom, Scripps, Sinclair, TEGNA, antbdme as (Dkt. 299 40).The Court uses the
term “Sales Rep Firms” to refer leectively to Cox Media and Katz



two forms First, Defendants agreed to regularly and reciprocally axgh local sales pacing
information through the Sales Rep Firms, including-tieaé pacing information regarding each
station’s revenues, and reported the information to the Broadcaster DefemdéamesDMA.
(Id. 19152-53). The information exchangascluded data on individual stations’ booked sales for
current and future months as well as compass$ormast periods (Id.  55) These information
exchanges occurred in DMAs across the United Stdtdsy 58. Specifically, at least once per
guarter, the Sales Rep Firms igimen DMA exchanged reaime pacing information regarding
the broadcast stations within that DMA and reported the information to the Broadzefstedants
and to thestationowners in theDMA. (Id.). In those DMAs in which the Sales Rep Firms
represented more than one Broadcaster Defendant, they erected firet@atied to prohibit and
prevent the dissemination of competitively sensitive information between the teirasenting
different Broadcaster Defendan{#d. { 56). In those DMASs, the Sales Rep Firms facilitated these
information exchanges among rival Broadcaster Defendants in violation of and inoméaénti
disregard of those firewalls.Id(). Once the Sales Rep Firms slthtBe information with the
Broadcaster Defendants, their competitors’ pacing information was then whatsh to
individuals within the Broadcaster Defendants with authority over pricing and skle$§.57).
Second, Plaintiffs allegéhat in some DMAsthe Broadcaster Defendants also exchanged
sensitive information directly with one another, without using the Sales Rep Firms as
intermediaries.(Id. 1 59). The Broadcaster Defendants accomplished this by exchanging DMA
specific pacing data anmhtional pacing data(ld. I 60). Broadcaster Defendantssalfacilitated
their information exchange byroviding data toa thirdparty, Kantar, which then disseminate
that data in an aggregated fotmack to Defendantsn its SRDS Media Planning Platfar

(Id. 7 61). Kantar collectsaadvertisement airing data by continuously monitoring local television



stations’ broadcast feedgld. { 62). The Broadcaster Defendanits turn provide retrospective
(4590 days’ old) average pricing data for broadcast television spot advertising to. Kéahgar
Kantar uses this information treate reportshat the Broadcaster Defendamsirchase from
Kantar (Id.) Kantar's SRDS Media Planning Platform’s data is broken down granularly by,
among other things, DMA and inventory typed, early news, late news, prime time) and tells
the Broadcast Defendants the price for broadcast spot television advertising broken down by
specific DMA and by time of day(ld. at 162-63). If one multiplies the average cegstr-point
for a particular market profilee(g, daytime in a given DMA) byhe Nielsen rating$or that
program,one can estimate how pricing would be set for that given program in a given DMA.
(Id. 7 63). Defendantsability to make this calculatiomcreaseshe efficacy of the pacing data
exchange and allosthe Broadcaster Defendants to better rule out the possibility that an increase
or decrease in revenue pacing was being driven by increases or decreases in thfdopoiadsast
spot television advertisingld( at [ 63-64).

The data exchangeamong Defendants was not made available to Plaimtiffe it was
publicly available,it was only available at a substantial cofitd. { 65). Plaintiffs contend that
“by concealing the exchange from their customers and making the informatiepublr
Defendants reveal that the exchange was f@argicompetitive purpose.”ld. 1 65).
I1l.  DOJ Antitrust Actions

In order to end what it characterized as “concerted action between halrizomipetitors
in the broadcast television spot advertising market,” the United States DepiadmJustice
brought civil antitrust complaints aljing unlawful restraints on trade under the Sherman Act
against the BroadcastDefendants on November 13, 2018, December 13, 2018, and June 17,

2019. (d. 11 6, 89). The DOJ also filed proposed judgments, which included a number of



provisions designed to “terminate Defendants’ illegal conduct, prevent recurreheesaite or
similar conduct, and ensure that Defendants establish an antitrust compliancengrtdweeby
“putting a stop to the anticompetitive information sharingd. { 7, 90).Each of thedlefendants
entered into consent decrees with the DOJ, except for, GeayMedia, and Katz.Id. T 21).
When announcinghe consent decre@ath Broadcaster Defendasthe DOJdescribed

its theory of the antcompetitive nature of Defendants’ alleged acti@ss follows: “[b]y
exchanging pacing information, the broadcasters were better able to anticipate whather
competitors were likely to raise, maintain, or lower spdvertising price .. larming the
competitive pricesetting process.”(Id. I 73). The DOJ's Assistant Attorney General for the
Antitrust Division Makam Delrahimnoted that “[a]dvertisers rely on competition among owners
of broadcast television statis to obtain reasonable advertising rates, but this unlawful sharing of
information lessened that competition and thereby harmed the local businesses and thereonsum
they serve.”(Id.).

On November 13, 2018, December 13, 2018, and June 17, 2019 dhddd complaints,
which stated that “Defendants’ agreements are restraints of trade thataavéulinhder Section
1 of the Sherman Act.{Id.  89). Thesettlementstemming from those antitrust actianandate
that for seven year®efendants (less Katz, but including Gray TV, by virtue of its acquisition of
Raycom, and Cox Media, by virtue of its subsidipayent relationship with Cox Enterprises) must
refrain from sharing competitivelgensitive information directly or indirectfyncluding pricing
information, pricing strategies, pacing holding capacity, reveraremarket sharesgstablish
antitrust whistleblower policies, designate Antitrust Compliance Officerponsgble for
implementing training andoenpliance program, cooperate in the ongoing DOJ investigation, and

certify annual compliance with the Judgments’ terms and conditigasy 91). This injunctive



relief extends to all DMAs in the United Statdtd. 1 92). Although theDOJ complaintsefer to
the conduct at issue as “illegal” and “unlawfubOJ declined to prosecute Defendants criminally.
(Id. 711 93, 98—-104)After reaching these settlements, DOJ’s Delrattiated that DOJ had reached
settlements with “seven broadcast television companies who [DOJ] allegeallhdddowith their
competitors to reduce competition in the market for broadcast advertisldg{ 96).

V. Economic Evidence ofAntitrust Scheme & “Plus Factors”

According toPlaintiffs, economic evidencen this casesupports the existence of a cartel.
(Id. 7 105-14). The number ofpeoplewho actually view television advertising has been
dwindling, and media spending continues to shift from traditional to digital productsraimse
at a rapid pace.(ld. 11 108-09). But the broadcast television spot advertising market has not
responded to declining demand in the way one would exp@ctompetitive market(ld. § 111).
Namely, me would expect these conditions to lead broadcasters to lower faricespete for
and preserve market sharg¢d.). Instead, the market exhibits indicia of cartel activity, including
increased prices and increased reven(ies).

Between 2008 and 2016, the broadcast television spot advertising market lost two percent
in revenue. I@. T 112). With one exceptionall Defendants outpaced the market as a whole in
percent gains in over the air (“OTA”) revene®me by as much as 97 percent, 164 percent, and
218 percent (Id. § 112). The sole Defendant that failed to outpace the industry, Fox, was also the
only Defendant that was selling broadcast stations (and their attendant revesams)sduring the

relevantperiod. (d.).



Beginning in the first quarter of 2014, television spot advertising prices began rising on a
cost per point (“CPP?®basis. (Id. 1 113). These increased prices coincided with an increase in
the Broadcaster Defendants’ revenudd.  114).

Plaintiffs allegethatseveral plus factors”are present in this casehich Plaintiffs define
as“economic actions and outcomes, above and beyond parallel conduct by oligopolistic firms, that
are largely inconsistent with unilateral conduct but largely consistent with exptioiginated
action.” (Id. {1 145). The plus factorsPlaintiffs allegeinclude: he Defendants’ exchange of
competitively sensitive information, a motive to conspire, actions and conduct that would be
against the Broadcaster Defendants’ unilateratistdfest in the absence of an anticompetitive
agreement, opportunities and invitations to collude at trade associations and otheghise, hi
market concentration, and high barriers to entrg. Y 146-98).

Plaintiffs contendthat Defendants’ alleged information exchange isugpérplus factor.”

(Id. 191 14#48). Plaintiffs claim thatBroadcaster Defendants irrationally raised their prices in the
face of declining demand that should have caused prices for broadcast televisialvesisirag

to fall. (1d. § 157). ‘[A] firm acting alone is uncertain how a rival will price, and so the
economically rational decision is to lower prices commensurate with the dgctiemand to
retain existing, or even to gain additional, market share,” but because the Defendedtgriegs,

it “strongly suggests” they acted in concerfld. 11 15859). Plaintiffs further allege that
Defendants had ample opportunities and invitations to collude, including through trade
associations, initiatives, and Joint Service AgreemdsTf 160—73) Additionally, Broadcaster
Defendants have a high market share and a high concentration in the broaddaginepot

advertising market, which isnather plus dctor. (Id. 11 174-88). As of 2017, the Broadcaster

5 Cost per point pricing refers to the cost to reach one percent of televisiorhdldssen a specified area.
(Dkt. 2929 113).



Defendantgollectivelyowned 47T full-power” stations, up 85 percent from 254 stations in 2008.
(Id. § 175). The Broadcaster Defendants in total own 688 revenue generating stations, up over 150
percent from 268 stations in 2008, which evinces the potential for collusion as a highly
concentrated mket is more susceptible to collusion and other anticompetitive pracges
compared tdess concentrated marketgld. 1 175-76). There are also significant barriers
preventing new playerérom entering this market, specifically (1) governmental paty,
especially FCC licensind?) the presence of dominant broadcastgs access to conten)
audience behavip(5) consumer costand (6) capital requirementgld.  190). Plaintiffs allege
that thesebarriershelp facilitate theformation of cartels and markatlocation agreements
(Id. 19 189-98).

Plaintiffs claim that Defendants fraudulently concealed their conduct through public
statements in securities filings that they and the market were functioningetitvefy.
(Id. 19199-219. Plaintiffs and the Class members did not discover, nor could they have
discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence, the existence aidbet @legedn
this actionprior to disclosure of a DOJ investigation on July 26, 20{8. § 200). Public
statements made by Defendants include filimgade with the Securities and Exchange
Commission(ld. 11 202-04) and publicly posted codes of condudtl. {{ 206-18).

LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the complaiast contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausibleame.itsAShcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotation marks omittad)laim is facially plausible
“when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw theneddeanference
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegédl.”"The Court is “not bound to accept as

true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegati®isdn v. Champaign Cty784 F.3d 1093,



1099 (7th Cir. 2015) (quotingell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|yb50 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)jThreadbare
recitals of the elemes of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not
suffice.” Toulon v. Cont'| Cas. Cp877 F.3d 725, 734 (7th Cir. 2017) (quotigbal, 556 U.S. at

678). The plaintiff must “give enough details about the subjeatter of the cast present a

story that holds together¥anzant v. Hill's Pet Nutrition, Inc934 F.3d 730, 736 (7th Cir. 2019)
(quoting Swanson v. Citibank, N.,A614 F.3d 400, 404 (7th Ci2010)). And the complaint’s
“factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the specieati. Twombly

550 U.S. at 555Evaluating whether a claim is sufficiently plausible to survive a motion to dismiss
is “a contextspecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial expeaetce
common sense.W. Bend Mut. Ins. Co. 8chumachei844 F.3d670, 676 7th Cir. 2016)quoting

McCauley v. City of Chicag®71 F.3d 611, 616 (7th Cir. 2011gpal, 556 U.S. at 678)).

DISCUSSION

Antitrust Injury & Atrticle 11l Standing

BroadcasteDefendants first seek to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that it does not
contain an adequate allegation of an antitrust injury, and that Plaintiffs accpidicigktanding
to sue. Section 1 of the Sherman Act declares illegal “[e]Jvery contract, combinatibtie fiotm
of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commercegatne several States.”
15 U.S.C. § 1. There are three elemenis a § 1 claim “(1) a ©ntract, combination, or
conspiracy; (2) a resultant unreasonable restraint of trade in the relevet;nagaud (3) an
accompanying injury. Agnew v. Nat'| Collegiate Athletic Ass’683 F.3d 328, 335 (7th Cir.
2012) (quotingDenny's Marina, Inc. v. Renfro Prods., In8 F.3d 1217, 1220 (7th Cir. 1993)
To satisfy the injury requirement, Plainsifhust allege thaheir“claimed injuries are ‘of the type

the antitrust laws were intended to prevent’ and ‘reflect the anticompetitect ef either tle

10



violation or of anticompetitive acts made possible by the violatiohri2Gen Inc. v. Int'l Union
of Operating Eng'rs, Local 15@33 F.3d 1024, 1031 (7th Cir. 2006) (quotBrgnswick Corp. v.
Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Ing 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977)).

Here, Plaintiffs allegethat they paid higher pricdsecause oDefendants’ pricdixing
scheme (Dkt. 292114-8, 18-20, 47, 507374, 90, 9%. This isaquintessential antitrust injury
In determining whether an attist injury has been properly alleged, the Court “focuses on the
connection between the purpose of the antitrust laws (protecting market canpetitd the
alleged injury.When the plaintiff's injury is linked to the injury inflicted upon the market, such as
when consumers pay higher prices because of a market monopoly or when a competitxt is forc
out of the market, the compensation of the injured party promotes the designated purpose of the
antitrust law—the preservation of competitionSerfecz v. Jewel Food Storé3§ F.3d 591597
(7th Cir. 1995)seealso Kirtsaeng v. John Wiley & Sons, 868 U.S. 519, 53@013) (“[T]he
principal objective of antitrust policy is to maximize consumer welfare by ergiogréirms to
behave competitively’’ (citations omitted)) Considerations courtake into account in assessing
whether arantitrust injuryexistsinclude: (1)the causal connection between the alleged antitrust
violation and the harm to the plaintif2) the presence of improper motj\y8) the directness
between the injury and the market restrai) the speculative nature of the damages, and (5) the
risk of duplicate recoveries or complex damages apportionr8eetLoeb Indus., Inc. v. Sumitomo
Corp., 306 F.3d 469, 484 (7th CR002) (citingAssociated GerContractors of Cal.Inc. v. Cal
State Council of Carpenterd59 U.S. 519, 537-45 (1983)).

Plaintiffs claim that Defendants’ collusion and pffceng scheme allowed the
Broadcaster Defendants to avoid price competition, harming direct purchasbreadtast

television spot advertising in DMAs throughout the United StaB&t. 29294-8) Plaintiffs

11



each purchased broadcast television spot advertising during the Class Period rficam va
Defendants at prices that were supoanpetitively impacted as a result of the alleged misconduct.
(Dkt. 2921118-20) There is a direct link between the alleged injury and market restraint, and
there does not appear to be any proper motive, speculative damages, or risk of duplicziesec
Relying on a strained reading of case law, Defendants suggest that Plaintiffsiledve fa
allege that the wrongful conduct and resultant injury occurred in the same nigarkéte relevant
market to recover for an antitrust injungreis the television advertising market as a whole, of
which Plaintiffs are consumer®efendants seek to apply additional requirements by having them
plead a specific injury in each of the 127 DMASs at issue in this casiadbig an issue to be raised
at theclass certification stage; it it relevant to the question of whether an antitrust injury has
been adequately alleged@he cases Defendants cite as support simply deeqoirethe enhanced
pleading requirements they wishimaposeon Plaintiffs. Thecourt inin re Dairy Farmers of Am.,
Inc. Cheese Antitrust Litiglor exampleyequiredthe indirect purchaser plaintiffe plead injuries
under eactstatés laws in which theypursuedstatelaw antitrust claimsn addition to federal
antitrust claims.09 CV 3690, 2013 WL 4506000, at *8 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 23, 2013)e court
dismisedthe statdaw claims related to stat@s which the indirect purchaseplaintiffs did not
purchase Defendants’ dairy productsl. For the federal antitrust clasnhowever, the court
consideredhe Chicago Mercantile Exchangileesemarket andmilk futures narket as a whole
in determining whether an adequate injury had been alleged for standing putdoae$.10. If
Plaintiffs were bringing statéaw claimshere certainly the Court would be required to delve into
local marketshoweverthe harm alleged here is a federal antitrust claim and the niarlsitch
a claimis the national television advertising markietaintiffs have sufficiently alleged an antitrust

injury in the relevant market.

12



Defendants timing argument-that Plaintiffs do not allege that they purchased
advertisements during any particular time period affected by Defendants’ itifamraachange-
is equally unavailingIndeed, if Plaintiffs had failed to allege that they purchased advertisements
during periods affected by anticompetitive conduct, they would lack standoahert v. Greater
Lafayette Health Servs., Inel63 F.3d 710, 716 (7th Cir. 2006) (plaintiff lacked standing where
she failed to allege that she participatethe marketluring the same time in which she alleged
that defendants’ anticompetitive conduct influenced the mark&t)is is not the case here;
Plaintiffs allegethatthey purchased broadcast spot advertisingrices impacted by Defendants’
illegal conduct during the Class Period. (Dkt. 2928-20). Defendantfocus on thaiming of
theinformation exchange, but thelevant question is whethetaintiffs allegethat theypurchased
advertising during the Class Period that \wesedhigher than it would be under normal market
conditions. Plaintiffs allege that there were information exchanges and that those exchanges
caused Plaintiff$o pay more than they woulthve absent those exchanggsat is sufficient to
allege an antitrust injury.

Plaintiffs havealso adequatelglleged Article 11l standing.Three elements comprise the
“irreducible constitutional minimum?” of standing: (1) a concrete and particathnjry in fact
that is (2) fairly traceable to the alleged action of the defendant atih{33likely to be redressed
by a favorable decisionMcGarry & McGarry, LLC v. BankrMgmt. Solutions, Ing 937 F.3d
1056, 1063 (7th Cir. 2019) (citingujan v. Defenders of Wildlifés04 U.S. 555, 560 (1992)).
Plaintiffsallege thathey paid highepricesdue toDefendantsprice-fixing schemeand “financial
injuries are prototypical of [Article 1] injuries.’ld. (citing Milwaukee Pdte Ass’n v. Flynn863
F.3d 636, 639 (7th Cir. 2017). There is a clear causal connection between the injuryGoutthe

can remedy thahjury with a favorableorder. Thus, Plaintiffs have Article 11l standing to sue.
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Il. Count I: Price-Fixing in Violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act

Count One alleges that Defendants entered into and engaged in a contract, combination, or
conspiracyregardingtelevision spot advertising in unreasonable restraint of trade in violation of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act in order to artificially raise prices. (Dkt. 29233-81). In order
to show goer seviolation of the Sherman Act, Plaintiffs must show either direct or circuniestan
evidence of an illegal agreemenn re Text Messaging Antitrust Litigp30 F.3d 622, 629 (7th
Cir. 2010)(“Text Messaging’). Direct evidence of an agreemenis“explicit and requires no
inferences to establish the proposition or conclusion being asSeitede Dairy Farmers of Am.,
Inc. Cheese Antitrust Litjgo0 F. Supp.3d 914, 95(N.D. Ill. 2014) (quotingIn re Baby Food
Antitrust Litig., 166 F.3d 112, 118 (3d. Cir. 1999Direct evidences equivalent t@ “smoking
gun,”and it is quite rareOmnicare, Inc. v. UnitedHealth Grp., In629 F.3d 697, 706 (7th Cir
2011); &cord In re High Fructose Corn Syrup Antitrust Litig95 F.3d 651, 654 (7th Cir. 2002)
(“an admission by the defendants that they agreed to fix their prices is all the praoftdf pl
needs”).Circumstantial evidenceonsists ofacts “from which the existence of such an agreement
can be inferred.”High Fructose Corn Syry95 F.3d at 654[M]ost casesare constructed out
of a tissue of [ambiguous] statements, and other circumstantial evidentéd. at 662.Indeed,
“circumstantial evidence is the lifeblood of antitrust law” because direceresgdwill rarely be
available to prove the existence of a pifieéng conspiracy. City of Rockford v. Mallinckrodt
ARD, Inc, 360 F. Supp. 3d 730, 749 (N.D. Ill. 2019). Buwrmallegations of “parallel conduct,”
without more, do not “exclude the possibility of independent action,” and are thereforeiastiff

Twombly 550 U.S. at 554.

14



Defendants claim there is no direct evidence of collusion. Indeed, Plaintiffs hgsledot
the existence of amoking gun agreememimongDefendantsnor do they dispute that tine
allegations are circumstantial in natui¢igh Fructose Corn Syrup295 F.3d at 654.

In considering whethesufficient circumstantial evidence of collusiaxists the Court
asks whether Plainfg havealleged parallel conduct and additional factual circumstaorcgsus
factors,”that arandicative ofan agreementTwombly 550 U.S. at 55657; Text Messagingy 630
F.3d at 62829;In re Broiler ChickerAntitrust Litig, 290 F.Supp.3d 772, 790 (N.D. Ill. 2017
Circumstantial evidence can be enough if it includes “a mixture of parallel behadebails of
industry structure, and industry practices, that ifa¢d collusion.”U.S. BRl. of Oral Implantology
v. Am Rl. of Dental Specialties390 F. Supp. 3d 892, 9623 (N.D. Ill. 2019) (citingText
Messaging,1630 F.3cat627)). Parallel behaviors include those which “would probably not result
from chance, coitidence, independent responses to common stimuli, or mere interdependence
unaided by an advance understanding among the parties,” and “conduct [that] indicates the sort of
restricted freedom of action and sense of obligation that one generally assotlatgreement.”

Id. at 903. The Court must also consider whether there are “alternative;cooapiratorial
explanations for Defendants' conducBfoiler Chicken 290 F. Supp. 3d at 790.

A. Parallel Behavior

“Parallel behavior” byrompetitorsi(e., competitors following the same course of conduct)
can be circumstantial evidence of an agreement not to compete Twomb|y550 U.S. at 553
Without more however,allegations of parallel conduct are “merely consistent with,” butato
“plausibly suggest” the existence of an agreemddt.at 557. Defendants claim that Plaintiffs

have not alleged parallel conduct sufficient to state a clSipecifically, Defendants say there are

15



no factual allegations regarding uniform conductpa€ing by competitors anthat Plaintiffs
instead present unsupportive economic evideBeg.as theSeventh Circuit explains:
Commentators have offered several examples of parallel conduct alleghtibmgould
state a [Sherman Act] 8§ 1 claim undbkis standard . .[namely,] ‘parallel behavior that
would probably not result from chance, coincidence, independent responses to common
stimuli, or mere interdependence unaided by an advance understanding among the
parties'. . .[;] ‘conduct [that] indcates the sort of restricted freedom of action and sense of
obligation that one generally associates with agreement{Clomplexand historically
unprecedented changes in pricing structure made at the very same time by multiple
competitors, and made for no other discernible reason’ would support a plausible inference
of conspiracy.
Text Messaging 630 F.3d at 628. Consistent with this standard ffemxt MessagingPlaintiffs
allege specific data to show that beginning in early 2014, each Broadcaster Defeisddritga
prices for broadcast television spot advertising in paralleefendants claim thatl&ntiffs
allegations ee insufficient because they have only alleged price increases in the aggregate.
Defendantgoint outthatother courts have dismissed claims premised soleBggnegate data.
See e.gIn re Musical Instruments & Equipment Antitrust Litigatiof®8 F.3d1186, 1197 (9th
Cir. 2015) Plaintiffsdid not “allege any facts connecting the purported price increase to an illegal
agreement among competitors. And without such a connection, there is simply no basis from
which we can infer an agreement.Qnlike the plaintiffs inMusical Instrumentshowever,
Plaintiffs do notfail to connectthe aggregate data price increasesnstead, they specifically
allegethat Defendants’ conduct has caused broadcast spot advertising prices to rise. (DOkt. 292 a
1 113, Figures 3.a, 3.b, and 3.€thercourtshave dismissedases duéo plaintiffs’ reliance on
aggregate datbuthave only done so whethe gaintiffs failed to connecthe ajgregatedata to
the presence of a potential conspira8gee e.g, In re Mexican Gov't Bonds Antitrust Litigd12

F. Supp.3d 380,390 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (holding thatlgintiffs’ aggregated statisticaere not

irrelevant toa claim thata conspiracy existed buhat plaintiffs needed to present additional
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allegations for them to sufficeln re Pork Antitrust Litigation18 CV 17762019 WL 3752497,

*8 (D. Minn. Aug. 8, 2019)dranting motion to dismiss where plaintiffs relied “almost exclusively

on industrywide data and asklthe Court to infer that the individual Defendants all contributed

to the decreased production, seemingly simply because they make up the majority of the
industry.”).

Here,Plaintiffs allege a number @ius factors in additin to theaggregatelata andhey
directly connect Defendants to an antitrust conspiracy threugtence othe settlements and
consent decreestemming fromthe DOJinvestigations. Some courts hakeld that where
allegationsaresparsethe merepresenceof a DOJinvestigationis insufficientto giveriseto the
possibility of parallelconduct. Seeln re Mexican Gov’'t Bonds Antitrust Litigd12 F.Supp.3d at
390 (It is far from clear that an ongoing government investigation involving Defendants would,
in the absence of more substantial allegations, weigh in favor of the complaint's [iavi$jlsiee
alsoln re LondonSilver Fixing Antitrust Litigation, 213F. Supp. 3d 530, 56(S.D.N.Y. 2016)
(“[T]he mere fact that regulatomsntities are investigating the possibility.af. misconduct . .is
not a plus factor)’ (internal quotation marks omitted)y re Aluminum Warehousingntitrust
Litig., 13MD 2481, 2014NL 4277510at*34 (S.D.N.Y.Aug. 29, 2014) (holding that “inciés
or investigations alone can[not] plausibly support an alleged § 1
conspiracy”) supplemented 2014WL 4743425(S.D.N.Y. Sept.15, 2014)and aff'd, 833 F.3d
151(2dCir. 2016) Other Courts have held that DOJ investigations can bolster antitrust conspiracy
arguments.See GSE Bond896 F.Supp.3d at 363 (holding, in the context of a claim involving
allegations of direct evidence, that “theysbility of the alleged conspiracy is bolstered, at least
to some extent, by the ongoing Department of Justice investigation into the same alleged

misconduct”);Starr v. Sony BMG Music Ente592 F.3d 314, 325 (2d Cir. 2010) (findiag
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inference of conspiracy plausible in part because D@dstigatedpossible price fixing by
defendants)in re Propranolol Antitrust Litig 249 F. Supp. 3d 712, 723 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (“The
presence of an ongoing investigation into the same subject matter as allegedeadimgg here
raises an inference of conspiracy.”).

The allegations about the DOJ settlersdr@remplicate antitrust concerns far more than
the mere presence of an investigatiétaintiffs allegethat Defendants settled with the DOJ and
entered into a consent decree that would restore the comp#tdithe alleged condueitiated
(Dkt. 292 11 4, 5, 226, 2837, 73-74, 90, 85). A DOJ investigation alone is not enough to
supportan inference of antitrust conspiradyut the allegations here are that the investigations
producedresults, namely consent decrees and settlem€@atssidered together witthe plus
factors described below, Plaintiffs have alleged enough to state a claim inlCount

B. Plus Factors

Plainiffs allege more than just aggregate data and the existence of a DOJ settWiknt.
Defendants attempt tigolatecertainpleadingsthe Court must read th@omplaint as a whole.
Text Messaging, 1630 F.3d at 6289 (analyzing factors as a whol®goiler Chicken 290 F.
Supp.3d at 790 (considering allegationspafrallel conduct and plus factors in tangeStandard
Iron Works v. ArcelorMittal 639 F.Supp.2d 877, 902 (N.D.IIl.2009) (“Defendants' attempt to
parse the complaint and argue that nohthe allegationsi.g., quoted public statements, parallel
capacity decisions, trade association and industry meetings) support a plaufsitdece of
conspiracyis contrary to the Supreme Court's admonition that ‘[tlhe character and effact of

conspracy are not to be judged by dismembering it and viewing its separate parts.”) (quoting
Cont’l Ore Co. v. Union Carbide and Carbon Car70 U.S. 690, 699 (1962)Rlusfactorsthat

courts considemay include &vidence of other circumstances giving rise to a less direct inference
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of conspiracy, such da& commommotiveto conspire evidence that shows that the parallel acts
were against the apparent individual economic-isédfrest of the alleged conspirators, and
evidence of a high level of interfircommunications.”Anderson News LLC v. American Media,
Inc., 899 F.3d 87, 104 (2d Cir. 2018) (quotidgited States v. Apple, In&91 F.3d 290, 315 (2d
Cir. 2015)).

The plus factors that Plaintiffallegeinclude:an information exchangaf competitively
sensitive information, a motive to conspire, actions and conduct that would be against the
Broadcaster Defendants’ unilateral selberest in the absence of an anticompetitive agreement,
opportunities to colludéhrough trade associations and otherwise, high market concentration, and
high barriers to entry. (Dkt. 297]146-98).

Plaintiffs contendthat Defendants’ alleged information exchange isugpérplus factor.”

(Id. 7 14#48). Whether theacademic literature recognize$saiper plus &ctor” is immaterid

there is no doubt that Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient information on an infonmatchange,

which is aplus factor. Omnicare, Ing 629 F.3d at 709. Plaintiffs have pleddhat athird-party
calledKantarfacilitatedthe Broadcaster Defendan#bility to exchange competitively sensitive
information with one anotheand that theSales Rep Firmsilso facilitated such exchanges

(Id. 1952-65). Plaintiffs do not urge that infornmatiexchanges aper seviolations of antitrust

law, but only that one occurred here, and that the information exchange, in conjunction with other
well-pleackd plus factorsgive rise to an inference of an antitrust conspiraky a consequence of

that conspiracyBroadcaster Defendants raised their pridespitedeclining demand thatnder
normal market conditions would have caubedadcast television spot advertisimgcesto fall.

(Id. 7 157).
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Plaintiffs allegations related tplus factorslike opportunities to collude, a motive to
collude, and the market structuedl support an inference of price fixing. Plaintiffdegethat the
Broadcaster Defendants raised their prices despite declining demand, which wouldlypizkna
against each Defendant’s saiferest. In rebuttal, Defendants argue that their motive was only to
increase their profitsvhich isof course a lawful goalButPlaintiffs’ allegation is not simplyhat
Defendants increased their priceRather, Plaintiffs also allegdat Defendants increased their
prices despite a demonstrated lower denfantelevision spot advertisingRaising prices in the
face of lower demand could bgainst Defendantselfinterestn the absence of collusiofVhile
there may bexplanations for the price increaster than collusion, Plaintiffs only have to allege
what is plausible at this stag&ee, e.gKleen Prods., LLC v. Packaging Corp. of AmM75 F.
Supp. 2d 1071, 1@AN.D. Ill. 2011) ("*Kleen I') (noting—cespitethe cefendantspreseration of
alternative explanations for price increase¢iatat themotion to dismiss stagplaintiffs’ alleged
explanation must only satisfy the plausibility jestHere, Plaintiffs’ alleged explanation for
increased prices in the face of declining dematitht Defendants exchangesknsitive
information—satisfies the plausibility standard.

Plaintiffs allege that a proliferation of trade organizations has facilitated Broadcaster
Defendants’ ability tawonspire. Defendantespondhat “Plaintiffs have simply described trade
organizations”(Dkt. 329 at 18), which is a toothless allegatiddertainly, there are innocuous
reasons forcompaniesto join trade organizationsut Plaintiffs make a specific allegation.
Whether Broadcaster Defendants actually joined trade organizations for innocasoissrés
irrelevant at this stage; all that matters is that Plaintiffs allege thitiemrganizations facilitatk
the unlawful exchange of information. That being sg@lbsent additional facts addressing the

content of defendants' discussions at or the (nefarious) subjects of trade omamzstings,
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allegations that defendants were members of the same trade organizations araauigpaod
fail to move the needjéadditional facts would include allegations such as “express wiws
cooperation among competitorsWashington Cty. Health Care Auth. v. Baxter Int’l.|r828 F.
Supp. 3d 824, 843 (N.D. Ill. 2018).

This case is distinguishable frovdashington Guntybecause Plaintiffallegenumerous
instancesn which Defendantsexecutivesnade express public statements regarding cooperation
among Defendantfirough therV Interface Practices (“TIP Initiative”) trade organization. (Dkt.
292 at 11 16462). According to public statements made by executives of Sinclair, Nexstar, and
Tribune, TIP enabled Defendants to work together toveaaklerating electronic advertising
transactions for local TV broadcaster@d. I 161.) Plaintiffs also explain that Defendaritad
opportunites to cooperate with one another through membership in the Television Bureau of
Advertising, the National Association of Broadcasters, and the Media Rating C{dn8ifl 166—

73.) Plaintiffsalsoallege that Defendant®operatedhroughJoint Service Agreemenigeginning
in 2011 and the conduat issuevas widespread by 2013ld( 164).

Although opportunities of this nature to collude are ipdo facto evidence of a
conspiratorial agreement, when one considers them in the “larger context of the amarket
industly actions,” plus suspicious timing of industry meetings, evidence of these opportunities
helps to “plausibly fikout the picture” of an alleged conspiratorial agreem@&mbiler Chicken

290 F. Supp. 3d at 799-860.

6 Defendantstate thatabsent evidence of what information was exchanged at [industry] meetingsistherbasis
for an inference that they were using the meetings to plot prices [sic] inctebsrsText Messaging Antitrust Litig.
782 F.3d 867, 878 (7th Cir. 2015)TEgx Messaging ). But this case is in a different posture thianre Text
Messagingasdiscovery had already taken place in that case. In the current posture of thibe&®urt does not
look to evidence to which Plaintiffs do not have access andaidnly concerns itself with the plausibility of the
allegations in the pleadings
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Finally, Plaintiffs allegethat the market structure supports an inference of a-fixiog
conspiracy. (Dkt. 292 11 17#47). Market structure is an important consideratimtausean
“industry structure thatacilitates collusion constitutes supporting evidence of collusiarekt
Messaging ,| 630 F.3d at 62728; see also Text Messagilg 782 F.3d at 872.Specifically,
Plaintiffs allege market concentratierwith market shares as high as 100 perdentertain
DMAs—and high barriers to enter the market. (Dkt. 348 at 22). Defendanigastangton Cty.
to supporthe propositiorthat market structure suggests only the possibility of collusiowever,
thecourt there only stated that “industry structure alone cannot get the complaint herfsisih
line,” not that it is an nelevant consideration328 F.Supp. 3d at 841. Here, Plaintifidlege
parallel conduct and a number iis factors, that, when consideréabether give rise to an
inference of griceffixing conspiracysufficient to state a claimnd survive the motion to dismiss
[Il.  Countll: Information Exchange Claim

Count Il of the Complaint alleges an information exchange in violation of Section 1 of the
Sherman Act. (Dkt. 2991 23541). Exchange of information is not illegpker sebut can be
found unlawful under artile of reasohanalysis, whicltonsiders “a number of factors including
most prominently the structure of the industry involved and the nature of the information
exchanged. Todd v. Exxon Corp275 F.3d 191, 199 (2d Cir. 2001) (citidgited States v. United
States Gypsum Ca438 U.S. 422, 441 n.16 (1978)). Undeula ofreason analysis, the plaintiff
carries the burdeto showthatthere wasn agreement or contraamong the defendants thas
an anticompetitive effect on a given market within a given geogralpniea. Agnew 683 F.3d

328, 335 (citingReifert v. S. Cent. Wis. MLS Carg50 F.3d 312, 321 (7th Cir.2008)Paintiffs

7 The Court could perform &quick look” analysis by which the Court asks whethéan observer with even a
rudimentary understanding of economics could conclude that the arrangementsstionquweould have an
anticompetitive effect on customers and marketsdlifornia Dental Ass’'n v. F.T.C 526 U.S. 756, 770
(1999). However, as thearties have fullyoriefed therule of reason analysis, the Court will apply it. Some Courts
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alsohavethe initial burden to prove that the challenged restraint has a substantiainpetitive
effect that harms consumers in the relevant mark#tio v. Am Express Cq 138 S.Ct 2274,
2284 (2018).1f the plaintiff carries its burden, then the burden shifts to the defendant to show a
procompetitive rationale for the restrairid. If the defendansatisfies that burderthe burden
shifts back to the plaintiff to demonstrate that the procompeéfii@encies could be reasonably
achieved through less anticompetitive medidsBecause Plaintiffs have met this burden, Count
Il states a plausible claim

A. Agreement Among Defendants to Share Information

As discussed above in Part I, Plaintiffs halleged sufficient circumstantial evidenak
an agreement among Defendants to saatieompetitivanformation Defendants seek to require
Plaintiffs to affirmatively plead informatioto whichthey likely did not have access given that it
is improbable that an antitrust defendant would openly make an agreement to exchange
information to suppress competitiomwombly 550 U.S. at 556, 570 (explaining tleaBection 1
Sherman Act claim requires a complaint with enough factual matter (taken as tsugyest that
an agreement was made but that “we do not require heightened fact pleading mfsspeail
that is required is that Rt#iffs “give enough details about the subjeatter of the case to present
a story that holds together.Vanzant 934 F.3dat 736 (itations omitted). Plaintiffs allege
circumstantial evidence of an agreement, which suffices at this stage.

B. Plausible Product Market

To establish a relevant market for a rule of reason analysis, Plaintiftsdifirse both a

geographic market and a product markieight Field Rooftops, LLC v. Chi. Baseball Holdings,

within this Circuit have also held that the Court need not resolve which antitrustisuagdges at thenotion to
dismiss stageRockford v. Mallinckrodt ARDnc., 360 F.Supp.3d 730, 75354 (N.D. lll. 2019) (finding that the
court did not need to determine which mode of antitrust analysis should be conducted hitmadszavery the
court can better determine whether and how to take a more detailed theleéfects of defendants' conduct)
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LLC, 87 F. Supp. 3d 874, 886 (N.D. lll. 2015) (citiRgpublic Tobacco Co. v. N. Atl. Trading.Co
381 F.3d 717, 738 (7th Cir. 2004)Defendants claim that Plaintiffs have failed to allege a
plausible product market and that Plaintiffs make inconsistent allegations abbrgdt¢h of the
product market. The failure to alje the existence of a relevant commercial market is fatal to a
Sherman Act claim, regardless of whettier Court applies per seanalysis quicklook review,
or rule-of-reason analysisReapers Hockey Ass’mc. v. Amateur Hockey Ass’n.|linc., 412 F.
Supp.3d 941, 952 (N.D. Ill. 2019) (citind\gnew 683 F.3d 328, 337 If' is the existence of a
commercial market that implicates the Sherman Act in the first instghc®f coursethe Court
does not “blindly accept a market definition proposed in a complaintaaadtitrust claim lack
merit when a plaintiff “fails even to attempt a plausible explanation as to whykatnsaould be
limited in a particular way.”Int'l Equip. Trading, Ltd. v. AB Sciéx.C, 13 CV 1129, 2013 WL
4599903, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 29, 2013) (internal citations and quotatomtted)). The Court
should dismiss a claim whetihe alleged relevant market clearly does not encompass all
interchangeable substitute products or whelaimtiff fails even to attempt a plausible explanation
as to why a market should be limited in a particular why. (citing In re Dairy Farmers of
America, Inc, Cheese Antitrust Litig767 F.Supp.2d 880, 901 (N.D. Ill. 2011 Courts are
generally hesitant to dismiss Sherman Act claims for failure to allege a regbewdntt “[bJecause
market definition is a deeply fasitensive inquiry.”Int’'l Equip. Trading, Ltd 2013 WL 4599903,
at *3 (citingTodd 275 F.3d at 199-200).

Here, Plaintiffsdo not limit the product market to a single brand, franchise, institution or
similar entity andplausibly plead that broadcast television spot advertising is not reasonably
interchangeable with other forms of advertising. (2R 1Y 117-41). Plaintiffs define the

relevant product market as the “sale of broadcast television spot advertisingdcdst television
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stations.” [d. 1 117). They define the geographic markets as “individual, specificgdvMhich

two or more Broadcast&efendants purportedly compéted.  118)and that “industry analysts
and government regulators have consistently recognized that digital media adventisothex
forms of advertising are not effective substitutes for broadcast televisionadpettising.

(Id. 1 120) Plaintiffs go on tadescribe, in detail, what distinguishes television advertising from
other forms of advertising, sutimatit is appropriate to consider the market to be national in scope
(Id. 17 123-44).

Defendantsconend that Plaintiffs plead inconsistenproduct market and thatthe
inconsistency is fatal tthe information exchangelaim. SeeCinema Village Cinemark, Inc. v.
Regal EntGrp., 15 CV 54882016 WL 5719790, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 20(#jing Chapman
v. N.Y. State Div. for Youtb46 F.3d 230, 238 (2d Cir. 2008y the propositiorithat dismissal is
appropriate where the plaintiff defines the relevant market in inconstéatially mplausible
ways).No such inconsistencyor implausibility existshere Plaintiffs do not allege that digital
media and television advertisements are fungible products, only thatithiger ofpeople who
actually view television broadcast advertising is fallimile digital media, which is a separate
product marketnow accountgor a larger media spendDkt. 29291 10809, 14953). These
market dynamics provide Defendants adsg incentive to collude rather than compete” in the
broadcast television advertisement spacéd. f( 154-5% Given the opposite trajectory of
broadcast media and digital media advertising, it is reasonable to assume that ths predwat
interchageable. h other wordstheyplausibly allegehat television broadcasting adveetisents
have ‘Unique attributes that allow them to be substituted for one another, but make themit diffi
to replace with substitute products from outside the méarketl Equip. Trading, Ltd 2013 WL

4599903, *3 (citations omitted).
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Plaintiffs correctly point out that Defendants’ cited cases do not support thearététion
of pleading requirements as they pertaiprtoductmarketallegations For example, Defedants
claim that inHicks v. PGA Tour, Incthe plaintiffs tried to limit the relevant product market to
television advertising, and the Court rejected this narrow definition of the produatm8ee
897 F.3d 1109, 121 (9th Cir. 2018)J.he Hicks courtdid no such thing- it rejectedplaintiffs’
product market not because it narrowed inteavision advertising, butaither becausplaintiffs
attempted tamarrowthe market taadvertisements to golf fans during televised live action golf
tournaments, andllegedthat other forms of advertising, including digital, radio, and podcasts
could feasibly be included within that proposed market. 897 F.3d at 1116-22.

Plaintiffs suficiently allege that broadcast television spot advemients are
interchangeable amongne anotherbut not readily interchangeable with other forms of
advertisement. Given thdetermining the scope ofmmoduct market is a faghtensive inquiry
andthatthe Court should dismigsscomplaint onlywhenthe alleged relevant markgtlearly does
not encompass all interchangeable substitute products’ or when a pléaiisfeven to attempt a
plausible explanation as to why a market should be limitedpartecular way” Plaintiffs have
met their burden her&ee, e.gint’'l Equip. Trading, Ltd 2013 WL 4599903, at *&iting Dairy
Farmers of America, Inc767 F. Suppat901).

C. Anticompetitive Effects

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs hafeéled to plead an anticompetitive effeamely,
“higher prices or lower output,” which are the “principal vices proscribed by theushtigws.”
Ball Mem’l Hosp.,Inc. v. Mutual Hosp. Ins.Inc., 784F.2d 1325, 1334 (7th Cir. 1986ee also
David EisenstadiThe Role of Economics in Truncated Rule of Reason Ana&@sstJM Antitrust

52, 52(2014) (explaining that plaintifishow anticompetitive effects by demonstrating that prices
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are higher or output is lower in a relevant mark&Jaintiffs canshow proof ofanticompetitive
effectseither directly or indirectly Direct evidence ofinticompetitive effects would be “proof of
actual detrimental effects on competition such as reduced output, increzssd @ridecreased
guality in the releant market. Am Express Cq.138 S.Ct. at 2284 (internal citations omitted).
Whereas “[ihdirect evidence would be proof of market power plus some evidence that the
challenged restraint harms competitioid. (citations omitted).Plaintiffs allegehat Defendants’
information exchange resulted in higher prices, wisadmnanticompetitive effectSeeToys “R”

US, Inc. v. FTC221 F.3d 928, 93({’th Cir. 2000) (explaining that “coordination of action among
competitors” that prevents them “from having tower .. .prices” is “proof of actual
anticompetitive effects”).

In particular, Plaintiffs pleadthat the quarterly exchange of pacing data provided the
Broadcaster Defendants with insight inbtoe amther’s relative remaining inventgr which
removed uncertainty about each Broadcaster Defendants’ relative inventory pasreorisne
and into the future and allowed the Broadcaster Defendants to keep their primesligriifgh as
a result of this information exchange. (Dkt. 299%#®, 45, 39, 50, 5360, 65, 6972, 74-75, 77,

90, 95). Not only that,but Plaintiffsallegethat the information in question was not made public
(Id. at § 65), whiclcreates durther inference that the information exchange was anticompetitive
in nature. Todd 275 F.3d at 213.

Defendants repeatedly cite pmrtions of Plaintiffs’ pleadings wherdlaintiffs clearly
connect the dotbetween the alleged information exchange tedrise in pricebut Defendants
then go onto contend that Plaintiffs’ allegations dmnclusory.” While Defendants are correct
that an information exchange is not always anticompetitive and can enhance competition,

Gypsum438 U.S. at 441 n.16, as alleged here, the information exchange was intended to keep
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prices high to the detriment of Plaintiffs and other consumeise alleged facts indicate a
plausible anticompetitive effect, and while there are certainly factual quesgossthese are not
to be resolved at the motion to dismiss stagieis sufficient that Plaintiffsallegea plausible
anticompetitive effect.

D. Market Power

Plaintiffs must also allege market power in order to show an antitrust violation under the
rule of reason. “One traditional way to demonstrate market power is by defining the relevant
product market and showing defendants' percentage share of that maiddet.275 F.3d at 199.
As discussed above, Plaintiffs have alleged a sufficient product markaintif® have also
alleged that Defendants have a concentrated share of the relevant markeidofst television
spot advertising on broadcast television stations. Plaintiffs plead that the Btead@xafendants
“held 60 percent, and as high as 100 percent, market share in thelefedant DMAS listg in
[Alppendix A.” (Dkt. 292 at § 142see alsd[f 174-98. That is more than sufficient market
power to satisfy the market power prorgeeValley Liquors, Inc. v. Renfield Importers, Lt822
F.2d 656, 667 (7th Cir. 1987) (explaining that the lowest possible market share legallgrsuffici
to sustain a finding of monopolization is somewhere between 17925063l Even somarket
power defined as a percentagfemarket shareés not the only way to demonstrate defendants'
ability to have an adverse effect on competitiofrodd 275 F.3dat 206 (citing Toys“R” Us,
Inc., 221 F.3cat937). If “aplaintiff can show that a defendant's conduct exerted an actual adverse
effect on competition, this is a strong indicator of market péweéd. As discussed above,
Plaintiffs can show an adverse effect on competition and so the lower marletrsicarain

DMASs does not doom its claim.

28



V. Katz’'s Motion to Dismiss

Defendant KatzMedia Group, Inc.brings a separate Motion to Dismiss in which it
contendghat Katz cannot be liable for its participation in the alleged congpdi@cause an agent
acting only on behalf of a conspiring principal is not a separatowespirator. (Dkt. 347).
Becaus&atz served as an independent center of decimiaking andhe agency exception does
not apply, Katz’s Motion to Dismiss is denied.

A. Katz’s Capacity to Form a Conspiracy

To form an agreemeithat violates the Sherman Athe partieso the alleged agreement
must be “independent centers of decisionmakigri. Needle, Inc. v. Nat'l Football Leagi0
U.S. 183, 96 (2010). Parties that are a “legally single entity” have been found liable where the
party “was controlled by a group of competitors and served, in essence, as a vehicle for ongoing
concerted agvity.” Id. Under this theory, Katz believes the claims against it are barred because
Katz was merely carrying out the principals’ (in this case the Broadcaster Ddfeafidats)
wishes. [d. at 3).

The authority Katz citedoes not applyere First, Katz does not explain how itnst
controlled by a single center of decisionmaking when it is alleged to have conspired wéarfour
distinct economic actors, of whom only seven served as Katz principals, in a horizosgpélazyn
Plaintiffs allege that Katz participated two separate horizontal trade restraingspricefixing
conspiracy and an information exchange, both of which violate Section 1 of the Shertnan A
(Dkt. 292at 11 23941). Plaintiffs further alleg¢hat Katz joined the conspiracy in 2014 and
collected and disseminated competitively sensitive information from eacu&aster Defendant
on a quarterly basis.Id| at { 10, 21, 3839, 41,53-55, 58). The case law Katz cigggmarily

applies tovertical restraints on tradand involve single firrm andtheir own subsidiaries,
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employees or agents. (D47 at 3-5 (citing Siegel Transfer, Inc. v. Carrier Express, .\n64
F.3d 1125, 1135 (3d. Cir. 1995) (no conspiracy between two subsidiaries of one parent company
and one of their agentsPifk Supply Corp. v. Hiebert Inc788 F.2d 1313, 13147 (8th Cir.
1986) (no conspiratorial relationship between furniture manufacturer andéass agnis Ill.
Corp. Travel, Inc. v. Am. Airlines, In@5 CV 7079, 1985 WL 2548, at*b6 (N.D. lll. Sept. 16,
1985),aff’'d, 806 F.2d 772 (7th Cir. 1986) (airline incapable of conspiring with its travel agents
a vertical resale price maintenance claiBill’s Birds Inc. v. Trademarketing Resources |r820
F. Supp. 2d 357, 365 (E.D.N.Y. 201(8pnspiracy not possible between automobile manufacturer
and its licensing agent) Belfiore v. NY. Times Cq 826 F.2d 177, 182 (2d Cir. 198{o
conspiracy between New York Times and its wholesalEig)hs Sugars &yrups, Inc. v. Amstar
Corp., 602 F.2d 1025, 1031 (2d Cir. 1979) (no conspiracy between sugar refiner and its brokers).

This case presents different fad#®rizontal agreements, such as the one alleged here, are
excluded from the agency exceptioRhillip Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust Lefjv
1473f (3d & 4th eds., 2018 Cum. Supp. 261D);cf. In re Broiler ChickenAntitrust Litig, 16 CV
8637,2019 WL 1003111, at *2 (finding that agetgfendant AgriStats was a knowing €o
conspiratolin allegations that they facilitated a horizontal cartel by collecting and disseminating
commercially sensitive information among its clients);Corp. Trave| 1985 WL 2548, at *56
(finding that while no conspiracy between airline and travel agents in verticaiméist possible
aconspiracy between airline and agents is possible where they conspired to elhoirmtstal
competition).

Katz believes the pleadings indicate that it had a traditional -pgeipal role that
precludes it from liability.While this is not the case in a horizontal scheme such as the one alleged

here, in any event, as Katz points owutistance, not form, should determine whether ajn] . . .
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entity is capable of conspiring under 8 TAm. Needlg560 U.S. at 194 Plaintiffs have plausibly
alleged that Katz played a vital role in the pfibeng and informatiorsharing conspiracies, so
the agency exceptide inapplicable

B. Katz’s Liability for Conspiracy with Non-Client Third Parties

Katz moves to dismiss on the grounds that it cannot be held liable for conspiring with non
client defendants. However, Plaintiffs correctly distispuAluminum Warehousin§fom the
instant case. (Dkt. 355 at 10 (“The critical distinctions betwee&luminum Il and the
[Complaint}—(a) Katz did not always act at its principals’ behest, and (b) joined a lspraw
conspiracy involving fourteen separate economic actors, (i) only seven of which were Katz’
principals and (ii) one of which was Katz’s horizontal competitor, Cox Reps, Inc.’a)ntiHs’
pleadings plausibly give rise to the inference that Katz joined a horizontal conspithcgllwi
Broadcastr Defendants. AccordingliKatz’s Motion to DismisgDkt. 346) is denied.
V. Gray TV’s Motion to Dismiss

Gray TValsomoves to dismiss the claims against it, on the grounds that Plaintiff does not
allege that Gray TV patrticipated in any of the alleged condidit. 330). Plaintiffs do not allege
that Gray TV participated in the alleged conduct, only that Gray T\aielifor the acts of
Raycom which it acquired. (Dkt. 292 § 26 n.4). Gray movesto dismiss because Plaintiffs
have not alleged sufficient information to pierce the corporate veil. Plaingffa that under the
doctrine offederalsuccessoiiability, Gray TV has assumed Raycom’s liability to Plaintiffs
Because Plaintiff have not been left withouthaadequateemedyat law for the alleged harm

caused by Defendant Raycom, Gray TV’'s Motion to Dismiss is granted.
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A. Federal Successor Liability

Plaintiffs sueGray TV while admitting that Gray TV did not engage in any of the alleged
illegal activity. Plaintiffs claim this righto sue pursuant to the doctrine fefleralsuccessor
liability. Successoliability is an equitable doctrine, not an inflexible command, and “in light of
the difficulty of the successorship question, the myriad factual circumstandésgal contexts in
which it can arise, and the absence of congressional guidance as to its resolutionsesnghasi
facts of each casas it arises is especially appropriateChicago Truck Drivers, Helpers &
Warehouse Workers Union Pension Fund v. Tasemkin,38d:.3d 48, 49 (7th Cir. 1995) (citing
Howard Johnson Colnc. v. Detroit Local JointExec.Bd.,417 U.S. 249, 256 (1974)).This
doctrine typically applies when an entity has dissolved or gone bankrupt, leaviplgitif
withouta remedyaside from suing the entity’s succesddr; Upholsterers’ Intern. Union Pension
Fund v. Artistic Furniture of Pontia®20 F.2d 1323, 1324 (7th Cir. 1998)E.0O.C. v. Northern
Star Hosp., Ing 777 F.3d 898, 900 (7th Cir. 2015).

Imposingfederalsuccessdrability is aform of equitableelief. Tsareffv. ManWelServs,
794 F.3d 841, 846rth Cir. 2015). “Theabsence of an adequate remedy at law is a precondition
to any form of equitable relief.’Plumbers’ Pension Fund, Local 130, U.A. v. Republic Piping
Sys, Inc., 20 CV 774, 2020 WL 4437846, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 3, 2020) (citfRmjand Mach. Co.
v. Dresserindus.,Inc., 749 F.2d 380, 38¢/th Cir. 1984). An adequateemedy at law still exists
here becaseRaycom is a surviving subsidiary of Gray TV and the Court takes judicial notice of
the fact that Gray TV became Raycom’s corporate parent through a reverse triamgngjer.
(Dkt. 331 at 2) Takara Trust v. Molex Inc429 F.Supp.2d 960,963 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (public

filings and stock pricearejudicially noticeable) Since Plaintiffs haveotallegedthat they lack
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an adequateemedy at law to recover against Raycom, the Court declinegptise on Gray TV
the equitable remedy sficcessor liability: °
VI. Motion to Strike Class Allegations

Defendants alsmove to strike Plaintiffs’ class allegations. (DBR8). This Motionis
premature at this stage and is therefore denied. Defendants argukaititéfsP Sherman Act
claims are inherently locaindthatnone of the elements can be resolved on a nationwide basis.
This is an inherentljactintensive argumerthat is betr adjudicatedafter the parties have had
an opportunity to conduct class discoveripé Falco v. Vibram USA, In@é2 Cv 7238,2013 WL
1122825, * 9 (N.D. lll. Mar. 18, 2013).

As Plaintiffs point out, of theases Defendants cite as examples wastigrust plaintiffs’
class allegations were stricken for being inherently |J@tlbut oneoccurred after class discovery
was conductedn Alabama v. Blue Bird Body Cb73 F.2d 309, 3223 (5th Cir. 1978), which
Defendants cite as an example of a nationwide class being rejgetetéd for having local issues,
the Fifth Circuit remanded because district courtould not make that determination based on
the limited record before it aéscoveryhadnotyet beerconducted Defendantsmost compelling
caseof a court denying class certification of amtitrust case in the television indussyof limited
utility to their argument because the deniatéttdd not occur until two years into discoverg§ee
In re Cox Enter., Inc. S&top Cable Television Box Antitrust Liti@@9 ML 2048C, 2011 WL
6826813, at 2, (W.D. Okla. Dec. 28, 2011)Striking class certificatioron account ofactual

considerations would be inappropridtcause Piatiffs have notyethad the benefit of discovery

8 Even if the Court were to reach the merits of the successor liability claim aGaasTV, the Court would still
dismiss the claim because Raycom still exists as an entity, so it cannotregiplyppe deemed Gray’s successor.

9 Gray TV initially argued that Plaintiffs cannot find Gray TV liable unaeeilpiercing claim. (Dkt. 331). Plaintiffs
did not respond to Gray TV’'s arguments, instead arguing they could find Gray TV liable eddeal fsuccessor
liability. (Dkt. 349). Plaintifs concede that the Complaint “did not invoke a veil piercing theory.” (Dkt. 349 at 6).
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CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, the Broadcaster Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 328)
is denied, Gray TV’'s Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 330) is granted, Katz’s Motion to Dis(Diks

346) is denied, and the Motion to Strike the Class Allegations (Dkt. 328) is denied.

M. Ké’dan \—
|te States District Judge

Date:November 6, 2020
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